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TUESDAY

 

Chap. 1

 

“Of course the dad did it. Maybe the mom. That’s it. Those are your choices.”

Raccoon didn’t say anything, but Owl could see the struggle in his face. So Owl continued. Probably longer than he would have otherwise.

“I know you don’t want to believe it, but you have no idea how common things like this are. Couple has a baby. They got financial problems, they can’t handle the crying, whatever. One of them cracks. Puts a pillow over the baby’s face and if they’re smart they say it was SIDS and that’s the end of the story. I don’t even think there is such a thing as SIDS. I think it’s just another name for death-by-parent. People kill their own kids all the time. It’s a sick world, Raccoon. This isn’t any different.”

He looked again. Raccoon looked back again. Nothing had changed. Who kills their own kid?

Owl spoke again. “They all look exactly that pathetic, you want to believe they’re innocent. Your brain plays tricks on you. They’re not innocent. One of them killed that baby. Maybe both of them. We just have to prove it.”

And at last, Raccoon nodded. He looked at the carpet, he looked up and said, “Yeah. How?”

“We find the body.”

 

Chap. 2

 

There was one way the case was different. Owl knew it. There was no body. No baby anyone could claim had rolled over into the wrong blanket on the wrong warm evening. The little girl her parents had named Sophia Grey was just gone.

And the story they told was this: They put their three-month-old to bed. They went downstairs and watched a movie on TV. After it ended, mom went up the stairs to check on her baby.

Gone.

Not in the crib. Not on the floor. Not under the bed or in the closet.

Couldn’t walk, could barely lift her head. Yet she was gone.

And even as Raccoon tried and tried to concoct a kidnapping, he knew it would have been impossible for anyone to take Sophia Grey. The nursery was on the third floor of the family’s townhome. It had no balcony. Every window on the third floor was locked from the inside. There was only one staircase from the third floor down to the second floor. And that single staircase landed right in the family room, where the Greys sat, they claimed, watching TV.

“Their own story proves it. No one could have got to that baby besides them.”

“So why’d they tell it?”

“Because criminals are fucking stupid, Raccoon. I already told you if they had a brain they would’ve claimed it was SIDS. But they don’t. They killed that little girl, panicked, got rid of her body and didn’t have the brainpower to construct an alibi.”

“Or one of them did.”

“Or one. Yes. Maybe one did and now the other one is helping cover up.”

“Why would you cover for someone who murdered your daughter?”

Owl looked at Raccoon. Owl had kids. Two of them. Ages 19 and 21. How do you explain what it’s like? He had a wife, too. Still by his side, now that his kids were old enough for college. She’d been with him when he was drinking. Been with him through two shootings he’d done with SWAT.

“Just find the body.”

 

Chap. 3

 

Raccoon had been SWAT, too. Far more recently than Owl. He’d once rappelled three stories off a roof onto a balcony, set up a sniper rifle, and waited for a shoot order that never came. So Owl knew exactly what Raccoon was thinking as the younger detective looked at the nursery window.

Raccoon turned to one of the guys from evidence collection and pointed at the window. “You done with this?”

“We got it, Raccoon.”

Raccoon popped the screen out carefully, pulled it inside, looked straight down onto the sidewalk three stories below. He stretched his head through the window, stretched half his body out it, looked up for purchase, for something to hold.

Nothing.

He reached up. His fingertips grazed over the bricks. More nothing. No ledges, no notches.

He leaned out even further into the dawn sky. Beneath him, four squad cars, lights flashing in the warm grey air. 

He looked up past the bricks towards the roof. Steep, slanted, pitching off into the air over long walls.

A man rappels down, magically opens a locked window, grabs an infant. One-handed, he replaces the screen, climbs the rope back up. And he gets down from the roof of this three story brick building how?

Raccoon imagined the silhouette of a whole team of kidnappers up on the roof, carrying off the kidnapping of the century so they could ransom the child for what?

What could the Greys possibly have that would make it worthwhile?

He looked back into the house at Owl and shook his head. Owl’s expression said, “Told you so.”

 

Chap. 4

 

There were two cops in the hallway outside the nursery. Above them, a trap door to the attic. Owl pointed up at the hole in the ceiling. “There?”

“Haven’t checked it, Owl.”

Owl looked at them. No expression. Just stared and stared. After a moment, one of them moved. Quickly. “I’ll get a ladder.”

Raccoon pushed past Owl. “Oh, for fuck’s sake, I’ll go. Just give me a hand.”

Owl finally seemed interested. The attic. Good place to hide a body if you’re a stupid criminal.

Raccoon handed his flashlight to one patrolman. The other cupped his hands at knee level. Raccoon nimbly stepped and reached, pushing the door open and catching the sides of the ceiling in one motion. He pulled himself up and perched on the edge, his legs dangling down into the hallway.

Raccoon looked up. Darkness.

He looked down and clapped, motioned. The patrolman tossed up a flashlight.

Raccoon turned on the flashlight and scanned the attic, fast at first, looking for motion, for a perpetrator, for a victim. Then he went back over the space again with the beam more slowly. Blow-in insulation. Knee deep in places. Easy to hide a body up here. Bury little Sophia under the insulation until the heat is off. He cast the beam left and right, looking for a disturbance, a lump. He stood, straddling the attic door. And then he stepped lightly across the two-by-sixes, kicking here and there. 

Nothing.

Without looking, he pulled a baton from his belt and flicked it open. Twenty-six inches long.

One square foot at a time, one careful step, he pushed the baton through the insulation. Again and again, drywall.

Step. Push. Step. Push.

Finally, he reached the edge of the attic. Hunched over against the slope of the roof, he looked back. In ten minutes, he’d cleared maybe a tenth of the attic. He walked back to the door and dropped down, landing easily and almost silently on his feet.

“We need a couple guys up there. Too much ground to cover.”

Owl nodded and then looked against the wall. The officers were standing there. With a ladder. 

Owl said, “Hey, you’re a couple guys. And you finally found a ladder.”

“We’re on it, Owl,” the officer said.

 

Chap. 5

 

Owl and Raccoon walked the single staircase together, down from the third floor into the family room. Behind them, footsteps and snapping. Two guys from evidence collection, one with a camera to his eye.

The room was small. Too small. The couch 15 feet in one direction, an expensive flatscreen TV mounted on the wall right up against the stairs. No way anybody snuck through the room. Not with the parents watching TV in there.

The couch had been pulled aside. Owl pointed at it. “That?”

A patrolman said, “It’s how we found it. Parents said that when they saw she was missing, they ripped the house apart for an hour. Closets, furniture, looked everywhere they could think of.”

“An hour.” Owl said.

Raccoon said, “I buy that. Nobody thinks, ‘Of course our daughter was kidnapped under our noses.’ They thought she was hiding or something.”

Owl ignored him, didn’t bother explaining that a three-month-old couldn’t travel three feet in a day, much less plot out a game of hide and seek. “An hour. That’s how long it took them to hide the body. So that’s the amount of time they’re trying to account for. Figure 25 minutes to get there, 10 to bury, 25 to get back. So we look for anything within 25 minutes of here. Parks, ditches, storm drains, houses under construction. Think like a panicked parent. ‘I just killed my kid. Hey, I’m going to hide the body in the…’ Fill in the blank.”

Raccoon kept looking at the staircase. He shook his head. “Fuck.”

“No, not fuck.”

“Someplace on their way to work?”

“Yes. Like that. Someplace they see every day.”

Raccoon shook his head again and turned away from Owl.

There was a set of French doors in the family room. Raccoon took two steps to them, turned the deadbolt and stepped out onto the balcony.

It was small, a few feet of concrete with a small table and two sun chairs. It was surrounded by a metal railing and overlooked a little grass lawn about 10 feet down. 

Above him, dawn had started. A flood of orange spreading across the flat gray world.

Raccoon could hear Owl inside, bossing around the evidence collection team. And then his voice, louder, calling out the doors, “Hey Juliet, you got anything out there?”

“Nope,” Raccoon called back. He stepped inside.

 

Chap. 6

 

The next single staircase led down to the first floor. A couple bookcases, a work desk with a laptop on it, big double doors leading out to the front walk.

Owl signaled to one of the evidence collection guys and then pointed at the computer. “That,” he said. “I want it. Search history, contents, hard drives, everything.”

 

Chap. 7

 

The garage was empty, but for a mountain bike and a car. Owl put his hand on its hood. It was summertime, hot outside, hot in the garage. Did the engine feel warm? Raccoon put his hand on it too. “I can’t tell,” he said.

“Me neither.”

Raccoon flicked on his flashlight and illuminated the corners of the garage, the ceiling, the door, the space under the car. Empty.

Owl reached in through the window, trying not to touch anything. He hit the latch on the trunk and it thunked open.

Raccoon flicked open his baton again. He used it to cautiously lift the lid. He shone his flashlight inside, reached in, held up a pacifier.

Owl nodded. “Yep.”

“Oh, come on. Every parent in the world has pacifiers coming out of their ass.”

“Maybe.”

“Who kills a baby and then sticks it in a trunk – with its pacifier?”

Owl looked down at the concrete floor, tried to answer, couldn’t. Raccoon had a point. “OK.”

“Yeah, who ‘told you so’ now, Owl?”

Owl looked at him. No ice, no attitude. Just two hard brown eyes. “They still did it. One of them. Or both.”

“Speaking of them, you want to go see them?”

“I sure do.”

 

Chap. 8

 

It was about 9 in the morning. The police station smelled like old walls and mold. Hardwood benches, scattered throughout waiting rooms and narrow hallways.

And on one of them were the Greys. Asleep.

Dad sat stiffly, unnaturally, his head fallen over to one side.

Mom was cuddled close to him, somehow her whole body seemed to wrap around him, her face was in his neck, her hand was on his chest.

Owl didn’t even bother to look at Raccoon this time. He just stopped in his tracks and said, “Really?”

“They were up all night while the cops searched for their kidnapped child.”

“And then they get pulled down here and they fall asleep? Do people about to be accused of their missing child’s murder fall asleep in police stations? No. No, they don’t.”

Owl walked up to the patrolman behind the desk. “Why aren’t they separated?”

The patrolman shrugged. Blank eyes. He worked in an office that smelled like mold.

“Oh my fucking god. I want them separated from now on. I hope they haven’t had too much time together already. It could be too late.”

Owl looked back. Raccoon was at another desk, filing an Amber Alert.

 

Chap. 9

 

Thirty minutes later. Raccoon sat in a tiny observation room.

He was alone. No lawyers seemed to be on their way to save the Greys.

It was a small room, claustrophobic and dark. It held just one keyboard and just one screen, a tiny, black and white monitor that showed what was happening in the next room. Raccoon turned on the recording equipment and hunched over the screen to watch.

The interview room next door was only a bit larger. In it, Owl sat across a spartan metal table from David Grey. There was coffee on the table. Neither man touched it. 

David Grey had been attractive, but time was catching up with him. He had intelligent blue eyes, but the skin around them had been wrinkled by too many hours in the sun. He had big sloping shoulders, but years over a computer had pulled them forward and up, into a permanent shrug. He’d had thick black hair, but it was starting to come out.

“Mr. Grey. I’m Detective Drazen. I know you’ve answered some of these questions before. I need you to answer them again. I need you to answer them for me.”

“I know how this looks.”

“It looks like you killed your daughter.”

“I didn’t kill my daughter.” 

“Did your wife?

David Grey took a breath and stared at the wall.

“Mr. Grey?”

“It was exactly like I told the officers. We put Sophia to bed, watched a movie, and when Daphne went up, she was missing.”

“How do you know we haven’t found her already?”

“Come on, Detective.”

“What did you watch?”

“A movie.”

“What movie?”

“The Matrix.”

“How did you meet your wife?”

“I met Daphne at work. I hired her to work in my department.”

“She’s an attractive woman. You outkicked your coverage with that one. She’s younger than you, too.”

“Thirteen years. She’s 25. I’m 38.”

“What kind of work?”

“Advertising. I’m an account director at an advertising agency. Black Door Advertising. It’s downtown.”

“And her?”

“Nothing, anymore. The office, it didn’t agree with her. She stays home. She’s a mom.”

“She used to be.”

 

Chap. 10

 

Owl opened the door to the video room. Raccoon swiveled around and looked up at him.

“Thoughts?” Owl asked.

“He’s a machine.”

“He’s practiced. He’s been rehearsing this in his mind. Over and over again. Sticking to his story.”

“Maybe. He’s a businessman. He knows how to handle a negotiation.”

“Anything else you want to hear?”

“Nope.”

“Ready for her?”

Raccoon checked the recording equipment, tapped a few keys, nodded. “Yes. We got it. Go get her.”

 

Chap. 11

 

“Where’s David?”

Owl sat down across from Daphne Grey and said, “He’s fine Mrs. Grey. He’s in the station.”

Daphne Grey had been sleeping on her husband’s shoulder on a police bench 45 minutes ago. Now she nearly panicked. She looked right and left at walls that weren’t five feet away. “I need to see him.”

“Not yet.”

“Is he in the station?”

“Yes.”

“What time is it?”

“Mrs. Grey, do you know why you’re here?”

“I think our daughter is missing.”

“Yes, Sophia is missing. Do you know what happened to her?”

“No. No. She’s missing.”

“Did you do something to Sophia? Did you hurt her?

 “I, no.”

“Mrs. Grey, if you come clean, we can help. I understand. She got stuck in the crib, her face against the side, she smothered herself. I know how scared you must have been. But you still have a chance to make it right. Just tell us where her body is.”

Daphne Grey didn’t say anything. She stared at Owl and then, finally, she shrugged a helpless shrug, a tiny little motion that could have meant anything.

 Owl kept pushing. “Sophia deserves a little service, a tombstone you can visit. But you need to tell us what you did with her.”

“Where’s my husband? Where is David?”

“Mrs. Grey, what did you do after you found out she was missing? After you found out Sophia was gone?”

“We looked for her.”

“Where?”

“Everywhere.”

“Outside?”

“No, not outside. In the house. Under her crib and under, um, under things. In the kitchen. In the garage. Just all over. We just looked all over.”

“What movie did you watch?

 She looked at Owl again. Not getting it. Eyes on empty. 

“After you put Sophia to bed. What movie did you watch, Mrs. Grey?”

“We watched…” She trailed off and then said, “The one where Keanu Reeves knows kung fu. That one.”

Daphne Grey yawned. Owl glanced up at the camera and, just slightly, rolled his eyes.

 

Chap. 12

 

Back in the observation room. Raccoon still seated, silhouetted against the flickering light of the video monitor. Owl standing in the doorway, outlined by the light from the hallway. Two shadows murmuring to each other.

“What do you think?” Owl said.

“She’s a mess.”

“Oh my god, yes.”

“Could barely keep it together.”

“Hm.”

“You think she’s in shock?”

“Maybe. She’s not understanding all this, that’s for sure.”

Raccoon said, “You kept putting Sophia in the past tense.”

“You noticed.”

“And when dad was in there, he didn’t blink.

“Didn’t protest. Didn’t cry. Didn’t beg us to find his baby.”

Raccoon sighed. “Ok. Fine. Let’s start with him, then.”

Raccoon stood up, stretched his arms up to the ceiling. His fingers almost touched it.

Owl took a step into the hallway.

Raccoon started to follow him and then he opened his mouth. “Shouldn’t we at least put one team on the idea that someone else did this? Figure out if it’s even possible. See if there’s a ransom note somewhere. Tap their phone in case a call comes in.”

Owl considered this. “Sure. You’re the team. You figure it out while I find that girl’s body and put her parents in the chair where they belong.” Owl started to take a step and then he didn’t. He turned back to his partner and said, “If I’m wrong, I’ll give you a dollar.” Then Owl said, “Lunch?”

And Raccoon said, “Yeah.”

As they walked down the hallway, Owl said, “If you want, we’ll tap their phones. Just in case.”

 

Chap. 13

 

They stopped by the sergeant’s desk on the way out. He was a big man, slowly chewing gum. Bushy brown eyebrows and kind brown eyes, but still the type of guy no one ever messes with.

He said, “Gentlemen?”

Owl said, “Let them go. Can’t leave the area. Can’t go home, it’s a crime scene. You know the drill. Let us know where they end up.”

“Copy that,” the sergeant said.

 

Chap. 14

 

The sun was blazing hot. Owl and Raccoon ate lunch indoors.

If you didn’t know people, if you didn’t know how they move, if you didn’t know how to watch their eyes, then the two men could have been midlevel management at a office supply company, grabbing a five-dollar burrito on their lunch hour.

 

Chap. 15

 

They went back to the condo. This time, Raccoon drove. Once they were there, Owl plugged the address of Black Door Advertising into the car’s navigation system and got back a route.

Slowly, Raccoon started to drive. Before he even got out of the neighborhood, he pointed to a job site. A new home being built.

“Good, yes,” Owl said. He wrote down the address. “Keep going.”

They swung out of the neighborhood and onto the road. Owl looked up from his phone. “Up here,” Owl said. “You’re going to have to go over a water tunnel.”

“I see it,” Raccoon said.

“This one’s easy. Just stop.”

Raccoon pulled over. The two men got out and stepped carefully down a bank of grass to peer into a storm drain.

Raccoon pulled out his flashlight and pushed it into the drain.

Too narrow, too empty. Small rocks. Daylight streaming in the other side. No place to put a body.

They climbed back up to the car.

They stopped at an elementary school. The dumpster there was locked for the summer.

Then a shopping mall. Hard concrete. Not even a shadow in sight.

Raccoon pulled over next to a park. A creek rippled through it, winding from a playset down through acres of storm drains and off toward a set of suburban baseball diamonds.

“Yeah. Too big for right now, though. Keep going,” Owl said. He wrote down the name of the park. Raccoon pulled back out onto the street.

 

Chap. 16

 

They pulled into the parking lot of Black Door Advertising. It was a large building, a refurbished warehouse on the gentrified northern edge of the city.

Thirty minutes away from the Grey’s home.

Raccoon slowly started to circle the parking lot. “It’s too far, right?” he said.

Owl nodded slowly, his eyes roving into the corners, underneath the cars. “Probably. But he knows this area. He’s panicked. It’d be somewhere he’d go. The dumpster. Over there.”

Raccoon steered the car over to the dumpster, stopped, got out. It was almost noon now. The sun was hot, the dawn orange replaced by pale blue. In his mind, Raccoon measured the distance between his hand and his pistol, the H&K USP Compact on his hip underneath his jacket. It was force of habit. Something about opening a closed door. He lifted the metal easily and inside was nothing.

Absolutely nothing.

Raccoon walked back and leaned down to the window on Owl’s side of the car. “It must be trash day. This thing is empty.”

Owl nodded. He picked up his walkie-talkie. “This is Drazen 0745. Car 348.”

A voice came back. “Car 348, go ahead.”

“I’m on a code one on my channel, I need you to patch me through.”

“Patching now.”

And a second later, a new voice, “Come in.”

“Drazen here. I need a search of these locations for the Grey girl.”

“Yup. Go ahead, Owl.”

Everybody called him Owl.

“Wherever the garbage men take the dumpster at 1399 Jeppeson Street, I need a search of that dump. Just this morning’s stuff, not beyond that. There’s a house under construction at 3125 Abraysia Court. That whole thing – dumpsters, basements, crawlspaces, everything. Everything. And Geraldine Park in Springfield. It’s a big park. I need that thing combed over twice.”

“Copy that, Owl.”

Raccoon got back into the car. “We’re here. They both worked here. Maybe we should talk to some people?”

Owl nodded. “Why not?”

 

Chap. 17

 

The front door of Black Door Advertising was painted black.

“Clever,” Owl muttered.

 

Chap. 18

 

“There are two men from the police department here. They want to talk about David Grey. What do I do?”

The president of Black Door Advertising was Mr. Dennison. He wasn’t there. Playing golf, on a jet, sitting in on a board meeting, something. Just not there. Off doing the things agency presidents do. Monica Peterson, director of brand management, came out to meet them.

“Can I help you?” she said.

Monica was tall, dressed in grays and blacks, trendy framed glasses she probably didn’t need, hair dyed a rich chocolate.

Raccoon was taller and she gravitated to him, a tall woman finding a taller man, that rare taller man who could make her feel like a girl.

So Raccoon talked. Monica was sexy. Raccoon tried to sound like Owl sounded all the time. “You know David and Daphne Grey, yes?”

“Very well. I know David very well. But he isn’t here.”

“We know. He’s with us.”

“He’s with you? Here?”

“He’s at the station. We need to talk to someone who knew him. Him and his wife.”

“Do… Um… Do you want to come in and sit down?”

“Does David have an office we could use?”

“Yes. Of course he does.”

Monica Peterson led the men back through the agency. Art on the walls. Frosted glass. Guys in flannel shirts, designer jeans and tennis shoes who didn’t even look up from their monitors as the detectives passed by.

One frosted glass door led to the office of David Grey. His name wasn’t on the door but it was a big office. A couch and two plush chairs. A third chair behind a desk, silky and black. A framed picture of a baby – little newborn Sophia Grey, looking up at nothing especially, but with big pretty eyes, wearing a little pink onesie.

Monica was used to taking control. “So why are you gentlemen here? David’s not in trouble, is he? I can’t imagine that.”

Owl was used to ignoring people who thought they were in control. He said, “Grey does pretty well for himself.”

“He’s the account director on most of our bigger pieces of business.”

“And he reports to you?”

“Oh, I don’t know. I guess technically. Dennison does David’s review himself. We’re pretty lateral.”

“His condo, though, it’s nothing special.”

“Oh, that place he has now, it’s the place he lived in since before he met Daphne. His swinging bachelor pad. I think they want to move to a bigger place, a house. I think he was looking at houses, but, you know, they’re busy. They just never got around to it.”

“They’re busy?” Raccoon said. “But they’re not, right? She stays at home, right?”

Owl smiled and thought, “Raccoon, you’re still so young.” Out loud he said, “With a new baby.”

“Mm, you have kids,” Monica said to Owl. 

Owl nodded. “Two.”

“I guess it’s a lot of work. I don’t have any myself.”

Owl glanced at Monica’s hands. Lots of rings, but nothing on her left ring finger. He kept going. “And Daphne? What about her?”

“Is she in trouble?”

“No. Monica, Sophia Grey is missing.”

“Sophia? Oh…my god.”

“We’re going to find her. But we need your help.”

“Well, David didn’t have, like, enemies. He wasn’t like that. Oh my god. Someone has that little girl.”

“What about Daphne? What was she like?”

Monica still seemed shaken, but she was used to composure. It was her default. She found it, tried to smile. “I didn’t know her that well. She was an intern when she started. About three years ago. She was an intern, we needed to fill a position suddenly and she was there. It was a bad decision. She was just a kid. Wasn’t ready for a job.”

“How did she and David hook up?”

 “Young girl, liked to have fun, has a scary new job. He’s older, making money, able to take her out and buy her wine. You know, things happen.”

“Was Sophia an accident, then?”

“Oh no. No, no. They got married. Daphne quit and they were married for a year before she got pregnant. They wanted that baby.”

“You sure?”

“Oh my god, yes. David talked about Sophia nonstop. Daphne used to drop by the office with her all the time. Every few days. They’d go to lunch together.”

 

Chap. 19

 

As they left David’s office, Owl tapped Raccoon and then pointed at the picture of Sophia. He said, “No picture of mom, though.”

 

Chap. 20

 

Janie was an account coordinator. She was 27 and looked 23. She had on heels and a skirt and a jacket. She was petrified of Raccoon and Owl.

They tried to set her at ease. They told her that Sophia was missing and that they were trying to find out if anybody had anything against the Greys. And after Janie said no enough times, Owl started to dig deeper. He acted like the real questions were done and he was just making small talk.

“So how is it, working for David?”

“Oh, David is great. He’s the best boss I’ve ever had.”

“Was it weird, him marrying one of the girls? You and Daphne are right about the same age.”

“Oh yeah. Well, she’s younger than me. She actually worked with me a lot.”

“How was she to work with?”

“Um.” Janie laughed. “She was fun. She liked to go out after work. We’d go to the bars all the time. She kept up a pretty good pace.” Janie laughed again.

“Yeah?”

Janie just laughed again. She’d gone from being scared to being nervous. She said, “She got moved off my account because she, uh, she kissed a client one night when we were out. It was at a wrap party for a shoot and they were making out.”

“Huh. I mean, isn’t it one of those unspoken rules? ‘Don’t date people you work with?’”

“Oh god, well, I guess. I mean, it happens all the time.”

“All the time?”

“People here work all the time. They have to travel together, you know. They’re together all the time.” Janie giggled. Janie shrugged. Janie giggled again. “I think maybe even Monica and David… You know.”

“I don’t.”

“They were a thing. I think they tried to keep it quiet. But that was before Daphne got here.”

“How long before her and David started up?”

“Not long. She was pretty in love. She loved going out with him after work, he’d pick up everybody’s tab. She loved that. She kind of threw herself at him.”

“Was he into it?”

“Wouldn’t you be?”

Owl and Raccoon had seen Daphne Grey. They stopped prying.

 

Chap. 21

 

A large room in a police station. Tile floors. Beige walls. Filled with cops with their feet up on faux wood tabletops.

It was seven p.m. More than 12 hours after Owl and Raccoon had walked into the Grey’s home for the first time. It was already an eternity in missing-persons time, but there was no urgency in the room. Raccoon knew why. Everyone there was sure Sophia Grey was dead. The ten men in the room were just hunting for a body so the case could be transferred to Homicide.

Four of the other men were in plain clothes. Men in their 40s and 50s. Khakis, moustaches and shirtsleeves. Revolvers in leather holsters. Two of them, Jefferson and Mateo, were detectives from the department. The other two men were evidence collection, in from the state bureau. Their names were Atrex and Samuelson.

There were four officers in uniform, hats on the tables, department-issued Glocks on their hips.

There was also a white board. And on the white board, Owl made a list.

Attic.

House.

Dump.

3125 Abraysia.

Geraldine Park.

Computer.

Amber Alert.

Phones.

Greys.

“Ok,” Owl said. “What do we got?” He pointed to the first item on the list.

One of the officers spoke. “It’s done, Owl. There’s nothing up there.”

Owl pointed to the second item. “Bloodstains, chlorine, chloroform, anything?”

Samuelson said, “Nope. We pulled prints around the girl’s room. Nobody but mom and dad. The parents say they tore the house apart looking for the little girl and that accounts for the state of disarray. No dishes in the sink. We scoured the hell out of the bathtubs for blood and bleach and got shampoo and soap. Outside. Atrex, that’s you.”

Atrex nodded. “Yeah. There were no footprints around the house, no duct tape or rope. No signs of forced entry on the nursery window, for whatever that’s worth. We got some of the girl’s DNA off her pacifier, so we have that in CODIS for when we need it.”

Everyone took a deep breath.

“Keep going, guys,” Owl said. “The dump?”

“That’s done, Owl. Nothing there.”

“The new construction?”

Again, the uniformed officer. “We did that one, too. Checked the crawlspace, the walls, got nothing. Workmen onsite said it didn’t look like anything had been tampered with overnight.”

“Geraldine?”

“That’s just barely started. It’s ongoing.”

“Keep it going. Overnight. I want all night, overnight, dogs, everything until it’s done. Do it twice. It’s a lot of ground. New parents go to parks. They spend lots of time there. They know it inside and out.”

“Copy that.”

Owl looked at his white board. “What’s next? The Grey’s computer. What about that?”

One of the bureau guys. “We collected it and all the hard drives in the house. Pulling the search history now. It’ll take a few hours to get that back.”

Owl didn’t even bother to say Amber Alert. He just pointed at the white board. No one said anything. In his head Owl thought. “How the fuck do you identify a baby?” He went on. “Next. Phones?”

One of the plainclothes detectives answered. Jefferson. His shirt was untucked, his pants were rumpled, he slouched and his eyes were slow. It was all an act. He’d been undercover for years in narcotics. He was smart, worked hard and nothing scared him. “Yup. We have a warrant with the carrier now. Should have the location data by morning.”

“How about the Greys? Any records pop up in AFIS?”

Samuelson shook his head no. “Nope. No record on either of them. And no hits from any print we pulled from their house.”

“Anything else?”

“Yes, The Matrix.”

The voice belonged to one of the patrolmen. Someone Owl and Raccoon didn’t recognize. His nametag said Viggio. And his sentence was so small, it almost sounded like a question.

After a moment, Owl said, “Excuse me, Officer Viggio?”

“It wasn’t on last night, was it? The Matrix?” 

Owl said, “You read the brief. Nice. Are you sure?”

The patrolman shook his head. “No. But I know that movie. And I was watching TV. I didn’t see it on.”

“OK, then. Call the cable provider, Officer Viggio. Get a warrant if you have to.”

“On it.”

Owl nodded and then turned to Jefferson and his partner, Mateo. “Mom and dad were released after we talked to them this morning. The house is closed off, nobody but us in or out. The Greys are staying in a suite at the Marriott. That’s you two. Get surveillance running. Round the clock, anytime they move. Call me anytime for any reason. If they split up. Anything.”

“Got it. Anybody else you want under watch?”

Owl looked at Raccoon. It was quiet in the room. Raccoon thought hard, struggled and then shrugged, helplessly. He shook his head.

Owl looked back at Jefferson and said, “No.”

 

Chap. 22

 

Raccoon had a date with a girl he’d met at the gym. Not the police gym, which was free but which he didn’t go to because there were too many cops there. He went to the gym with the pumping bass and girls with tight tummies who didn’t mind going out with a tall, handsome guy who was ex-army, ex-SWAT, made detective, got to carry around handcuffs.

Late dinner, 9 o’ clock. She was pretty. She asked Raccoon what he did all day. He had no answer for her.

 

Chap. 23

 

Owl didn’t have a date, other than that he went home to his wife. They ate soup quietly. The photos of their two children were framed on the wall. One, the older one, was in college. The younger one had graduated high school the year before, enrolled in community college, dropped out, taken a job waiting tables downtown. Owl looked at the photos as he ate and wondered what his children were doing and if they were ok.

Mrs. Drazen never asked how Owl’s day was. She never liked the answer. But she did pass her hand over his shoulder when she went to put the dishes in the sink. Owl had big shoulders.

“Thanks for making soup,” he said and she smiled.

That night, they were watching television. They weren’t saying anything, but they sat together on the couch. Owl held onto his phone all night, turning it around and around in his hands.

Then a picture of Sophia was on the TV. She had a bit of dark hair, a light green onesie. She was on her belly on a blanket, back arched, eyes opening, focusing on things for the very first time. “Oh my god,” her bright new eyes seemed to say. “What is this place? I wasn’t here three months ago! When did all this sound and all these colors get here?”

 “Police have issued an Amber Alert for Sophia Grey…”

Mrs. Drazen looked at her husband. “How do you identify a baby? They all look alike.”

And Owl thought, fingerprints, feetprints, DNA. But he didn’t say any of that. He just said, “I don’t know.”

 







  
 

WEDNESDAY

 

Chap. 24

 

Sophia had been missing one day. Too long. In two more days, Raccoon and Owl would lose the unis and the extra team and the evidence collection help from the state bureau. Another two days after that, they’d lose surveillance on the Greys.

There were lots of Amber Alert hits. All described a baby. Little-to-no hair. Caucasian. Small. Crying.

From eight to nine, though, Owl and Raccoon sat at their desks and went through them. When they were finished, Owl said, “That was stupid. Let’s do mom.”

“OK,” Raccoon said. “Where do you want to start?”

“Find someone who knew her. Really knew her. Before she knew David.”

 







  
 


Chap. 25

 

Raccoon went through Daphne’s Facebook account. He picked one of her friends, a woman who posted to Daphne’s wall often, went to the same college, and lived in the city. Her name was Josie. They tracked her down to a job managing a women’s clothing store in a mall.

She was slender and angular. Sky-high, patent leather high heels. Her hair up in a loose bun. She was dressed in the clothes of the store she managed, but Raccoon couldn’t tell if that was because she was advertising her wares or because she got a discount.

The store pounded with electronic dance music played so loud the concrete floor throbbed, but Josie seemed not to notice. She spoke quietly and walked with small steps, straightening piles of clothes as she went.

“What did you want to know?”

“What can you tell us? You knew Daphne Grey well?”

“We went out some. I knew her enough that I still can’t get used to people calling her Grey. She was Levets, when I knew her.”

“How did you meet?”

“We used to go out. That’s all.”

“In college?”

“And after. In college we’d just drink and go dancing. After that, we all started to go different directions. But she would come by the mall and a bunch of us used to go across the street to Club Club or Undertech or wherever to dance.”

“Who?”

“Me. Her. Five or six other girls. It was kind of a rotating cast of characters. We weren’t especially close. Just girls who liked to have fun.”

“And then she got married.”

“Then she got married. She started to go out with people from her work a lot and she fell for David.”

“What was he like? Did you ever go out with him?”

“Yeah, he was fun enough. He knew how to show a girl a good time. He could buy us a bottle of wine or get us a VIP table at Carrot Room. He wasn’t like the ball players some of the girls got in with, but he was a good catch, for sure. Just keeping up with Daphne,” Josie shook her head and smiled to herself, letting the words hang in the air.

“She was a party girl, huh?”

Josie kept her eyes down, big, pretty eyes with long lashes, moving about the store, looking everywhere but at the two detectives. She remembered something, laughed a quiet laugh, and then she said,  “Let’s just say she’s the only girl I ever knew who liked getting roofied.”

Owl and Raccoon looked at her. And finally Josie looked up.

“That’s a joke. She said she got roofied once and liked it. She was totally kidding.”

“And having a child? What was that like?”

“I don’t know. I haven’t seen her much since she found out she was pregnant. A couple times, right at the beginning. A few times she’s been in here shopping. I guess you stop going out once you have a kid.”

 

Chap. 26

 

Back on the sidewalk, Owl’s cell phone rang. It was Samuelson from the bureau.

“Computer’s back. It’s clean, pretty much. Dad had a little porn in his search history. Mild stuff. Nothing underage. Nothing violent. Other than that it was bank statements, news sites. Celebrity gossip blogs, I guess that’s mom. Lots of stuff. Nothing for us.”

“No searches for post-partum depression?”

“No.”

“Unsolved murders?”

“Nope.”

“SIDS”

“No.”

“How about map requests? Searches of the surrounding area for parks, malls, anything?”

“Oh. It didn’t pop up. We can go through it again.”

“Do it.”

“On it. See you tonight.”

 

Chap. 27

 

It was about eleven in the morning. Too early for lunch. Owl and Raccoon got coffee at the Starbucks drive-thru, pulled into a parking space, and sat in their car. Both of them stared out the window, their eyes searching the parking lot for anything. Just anything.

Raccoon said, “For just a second, just while we’re sitting here, can we just blue sky some stuff?”

“You blue sky all you want.”

Raccoon said this: “Perp is in the attic. He drops down, grabs the kid, takes her back to the attic, waits for the parents to discover she’s missing, and slips out while they search for her.”

“That’s stupid thin. How’d the perp get in the house?”

“Open window earlier in the day.”

“Who’s the perp?”

“I don’t know. But look at this.” Raccoon put a piece of paper down on the dash. It has a list of names on it. “Seven registered child sex offenders within three miles of the Greys.”

“You took the time to do this?”

Raccoon nodded.

“No good. Sex offenders grab kids off the street. This? This is different. To go to so much trouble, it’d have to be someone who stalked Sophia. It’d be someone who knew the Greys.”

“Someone who had a thing for Sophia. That’s good thinking.”

“It’s not. It’s still stupid thin. She was a three-month old baby. Three-month-old babies all look alike. I might buy a predator with a crush on a five-year-old. But nobody fixates on a specific baby. Not for sex.”

“Maybe it’s a kidnapping.”

“No ransom note.”

“Not yet there’s not.”

“Or maybe it’s not for money. Something else. Maybe.” Owl trailed off.

Raccoon said, “I am going to have someone run down the sex offenders. Yeah?”

“Knock yourself out, Raccoon.”

 

Chap. 28

 

Owl’s cell phone rang. This time it was the station.

“The search of Geraldine is done. There’s no body, no nothing.”

“You sure?”

“We combed it twice. Dogs. Ten men. Sorry, Owl.”

Owl hung up his phone and slid it into his pocket. He took a drink of coffee. And he muttered, almost to himself, “Where the hell did they put that body?”

He started the car and backed out of the spot.

“Where are we going?”

“The Grey place,” Owl muttered. “Who knows? Maybe they put her in the refrigerator.”

“I’m sure we looked in the refrigerator, Owl,” Raccoon said.

But Owl kept driving.

 







  
 


Chap. 29

 

Eggs. Two bottles of wine. Hummus. Tea. Yogurt. Organic peanut butter.

“Goddamn it.”

Owl shut the refrigerator. Then he opened the freezer and slammed that shut too. He folded his arms and scowled at the window. “Ok, it wasn’t an accident. Mom wants to drink and dance all the time. Dad never really wanted a family, just a permanent fuck buddy for corporate travel.”

“Stop,” Raccoon said. “That’s not what Monica said. She said they wanted this baby.”

Owl said, “Monica’s getting past marrying age and she had a thing for David. She doesn’t even like to think of herself as his boss. They were dating. Or fucking. Whatever. To let him go be with this younger girl, maybe Monica needs to build a romantic story in her head. David and Daphne are meant to be together and have kids together. In Monica’s head, letting David go was a sacrifice she had to make for the sake of true love. She had to let him have his white picket fence, his perfect family.”

Owl looked at Raccoon. He squinted, his eyes saying, “Are you buying this?”

Raccoon looked back and for a good ten seconds, it was silent in the kitchen of the Grey’s condo.

When they’d first started working together, Raccoon had asked Owl how he’d got his SWAT nickname. Owl had said he didn’t know. But over a few months, Raccoon figured it out. Owl was smart. Owl knew people upside down.

Owl never had to ask Raccoon about his SWAT nickname. As soon as they were introduced, Owl had said, “You’re sneaky and fast, huh?”

And Raccoon had said, “Something like that.”

Now Raccoon slowly nodded. “Ok, keep going.”

“Mom didn’t lose her cool and smother Sophia with a pillow. We’re looking at premeditated murder. The Greys had a plan. They planned carefully. They killed the baby together. She mixed up the house. He took off to get rid of the body. Somewhere they’d already selected. Not somewhere they thought of off the top of their heads. Where?”

“If I was planning to get rid of a baby’s body? Dumpsters. Plastic bag, throw the bag in, drive away.”

“Yes. OK. What else?”

“Open space? There’s tons of it around here. Take the body out, bury it.”

“Maybe the hole is already dug. You dig it the day before.”

Raccoon had watched a meth addict kill three innocent shoppers in a standoff at a liquor store before a go-order came. The meth addict had blown his brains out as SWAT had breached the front door. But now, for the first time ever, he felt sick. “Jesus,” he said, “I liked this better when it was an accident.”

 

Chap. 30

 

Five squad cars, three more unmarked vehicles, working in teams of two. Twenty officers spread across the neighborhood like locusts, working their way in circles out across every dumpster, every square inch of the county.

Owl and Raccoon were part of a line of four making its way across open space.

Kicking at hamster holes and beer cans.

Crossing bike paths and streams.

Peering into storm drains.

Finding nothing. 

 

Chap. 31

 

Owl and Raccoon’s shoes and pants were covered in dust as they crawled back into their car. It was three in the afternoon and neither of them had eaten lunch. Owl’s phone rang. It was the station.

“Carrier turned over everything. Both David and Daphne Grey’s phones stayed in the house all Monday night. No texts. No calls. No GPS location changes. Hers has been off since. His has tracked with his known whereabouts.”

“Copy that.”

Owl hung up the phone and said, “Raccoon, we’ve been idiots.”

“What do you mean?”

“I mean that we’ve been taking the Grey’s word for it that Sophia disappeared the night before last. But do we know that? No. No, we don’t. She could have been missing for a week, right?”

Raccoon snorted a bit. “Oh man. Yeah, I guess. We need to find out.”

 

Chap. 32

 

The surveillance car was parked outside the Marriott. Owl and Raccoon stopped by it on their way into the hotel. There was one detective in it. Jefferson. He knew who they were without ever having to look at them directly, his slow eyes staying locked on the front door of the Marriott. He unrolled the window, spoke into the air. “Owl. Raccoon. What’s up, men?”

“What’s up with them?” Owl ticked his head in the direction of the hotel.

“Them? So they were in the room. He’s watching TV. About noon she comes down to the hotel bar and starts getting loaded. Just pounding away. Four vodka Red Bulls in an hour. She goes back up. Ten minutes later they come down together and go back into the bar. Been there ever since.”

“I’d just murdered my kid, I’d be drinking.”

“Yup. That’s how it seems. You going to talk to them?”

“That’s the plan.”

The detective picked up his walkie-talkie, pressed the button, said, “What’re they at?”

And a voice crackled back, hushed, Mateo whispering into a lapel mike. “She’s put down a bottle of wine and he’s on his fourth whiskey sour.”

“Charming people,” Raccoon muttered.

“Owl and Raccoon are here. They want to bring them in.”

“To talk to them? Now?” The voice on the other end chuckled. “Good luck.”

 

Chap. 33

 

The atrium of the Marriott was bright and antiseptic, spiraling eight stories up to frosted glass ceilings.

Mateo was chatting up the pretty girl at check in. His eyes tracked Owl and Raccoon as they came through the door. 

Tucked in the corner was the entrance to the bar. Inside, low lights and dark wood. A pit stop for two or three travelling businessmen, each sitting alone, having a drink to help summon the courage for a dinner with clients or prospects, hookers or whoever.

And one table filled with drinks, water beading on wood that had been wiped down over and over again with a wet washcloth, and the Greys.

Daphne Grey looked up as the detectives walked into the room.

“You found her?”

“I’m sorry, Mrs. Grey, we haven’t,” Raccoon said.

David Grey’s eyes weren’t focusing on the detectives or his wife or anything in particular. He swirled the liquor in his glass. He was slurring. He pulled his phone from his pocket, looked at it, put it back in.

“We need to speak with you both again. We’d prefer to do it downtown. Would you come with us please?”

David Grey looked up quickly, worry poking through the alcohol haze. “Why? Are we under arrest?”

Owl shook his head.

David stood up. He put a hand on his wife’s arm. “Come on, sweetheart, we need to go back to the police station.”

Daphne tipped her glass up, drank what was left and stood up.

 

Chap. 34

 

How quiet can a car ride be? Daphne Grey kept her window open, her long, long hair whipping back and around her neck. Her eyes, even glassy and drunk, moving quickly, looking eagerly out the window into the hot afternoon air.

Her right hand she kept extended into her husband’s lap.

David Grey never grabbed it, never moved to comfort his wife. He stared out the opposite window.

At one point, Raccoon said, “How did you two know you were meant to be together?” And he was met with nothing, with silence, with the sound of the wind in Daphne Grey’s hair.

 

Chap. 35

 

 Owl sat down across the table from Daphne Grey. “Mrs. Grey, besides you and your husband, who was the last person to see Sophia before she, before Sophia, uh, vanished?”

Always use the name of the missing person. Sophia was a human being. A living thing. Remind them of that. Owl watched Daphne Grey carefully for cracks, sideways glances, anything.

But there was nothing.

Her eyes were glassy. She stared down at the table. “David went to work,” she said.

Owl said again, “Mrs. Grey?”

She said, “Jenny, Harper’s mom. We saw her at Sprouts when we picked up dinner.”

“When was that?”

“Before David got home. I don’t know. Five. Six.”

“Jenny…”

“Daring. Jenny Daring.”

 

Chap. 36

 

Jenny Daring had three kids and a big red house with a wide front porch. The detectives could hear the kids running wild inside. The sound of toy cars and various things flying through the air and crashing on the ground.

Jenny seemed unphased. She had her hair in a ponytail. She was fit as hell for a woman with three kids.

“Yes, I saw them.”

“About what time?”

“About the same time it is now. Four-thirty? I can’t be sure.”

 

Chap. 37

 

The Daring’s house was three blocks from the Grey’s condo. Owl and Raccoon could see its roof from their car.

“Four-thirty is not six,” Raccoon said. “Could be a spare hour in there.”

“It’s close. Almost close enough,” Owl said. “Especially if David isn’t home from work yet to kill Sophia anyway. Besides, this is a good thing for us. You know that, right?”

“Yes,” Raccoon said. “It means they didn’t have days to hide the body. It means the body is somewhere within an hour of the house.”

“Exactly.”

“Except we’ve already looked everywhere.”

“We’ve missed something. We just have to figure out where to look.”

“Assuming there’s even a body. Because we’re still Missing Persons, not Homicide. And you’re assuming there’s a dead body.”

“Yes. Of course. Fucking, of course, Raccoon.”

“I’m not saying it’s not a good guess.”

“So you haven’t gone crazy.”

“But you’re assuming a dead body and you’re assuming you know who the killers are. But we haven’t proved either of those things. That the girl is dead or that her parents killed her. There’s no blood. No evidence of a homicide. And no body. And we’re Missing Persons detectives.”

Raccoon’s cell phone went off. He answered it. “Yeah?”

“Detective Boska? This is Officer Viggio. I have bad news. I think.”

“What is it?”

“I called the cable company like you asked. The Greys ordered The Matrix on-demand on Monday night, so I guess they did watch it.”

“Yeah, OK. Thanks for following the lead.”

“Hey, there’s one more thing. I was running down that list of sex offenders you sent through.”

“Yeah?” Raccoon sat up, he looked interested. “What did you find?”

“I checked with all those guy’s parole officers. Only one said his guy is out and about, not at work, not checking in, no alibi.”

“Hit me.”

“Scoot H. Johnson. Address incoming to your cell.”

Raccoon’s phone beeped and he said, “Got it. We’re on it. Thanks, officer.” To Owl he said. “We got a child sex offender in the area with no alibi. Viggio ran it down for us.”

Owl said, “He wants to make detective. You can tell. You want to go say hello?”

Raccoon said, “I sure as fuck do.”

 

Chap. 38

 

The sun had set when Owl and Raccoon pulled into the parking lot of the Racine Lake Apartments. Walls painted beige, peeling green roofs, crumbly grey sidewalks leading to creaky metal stairs.

And there were no bodies of water in sight.

“Lake?” Raccoon asked.

“It’s advertising,” Owl answered.

They got out of the car. If anybody had been watching carefully, they’d have seen them brush their jackets back in unison, ensuring there were no obstructions between their right hands and their pistols. Raccoon and his USP Compact. Owl and his Commander M1911. “A .45 hits a body, turns it around, sits it down. One shot,” he’d told Raccoon.

Raccoon had rolled his eyes.

The sheet on Scoot H. Johnson included a flashing at an elementary school and then, a year later, an assault on an eight-year-old at a mall, a little girl who wandered off trying to find a bathroom while her mom was preoccupied with a dress.

The girl had screamed.

“You’re not my daddy! You’re not my daddy! You’re not my daddy!”

Smart girl. So lucky.

A mall security guard stopped them on their way to the parking lot. “But I am her daddy,” Johnson had protested. The security guard had seen through it, took him down and held him until the cops arrived. Johnson spent six years in jail and was serving probation for another five.

“From eight-year-old girls snatched at malls to three-month-old babies taken from their parents’ homes in the most carefully plotted kidnapping in history? Not fucking likely,” Owl had said on the ride over.

Raccoon didn’t say a word. He wanted to run the lead down. He was getting what he wanted. He wasn’t going to jinx it by arguing.

The detectives made their way up the steps to an apartment on the second floor. It was an exterior door. Owl knocked on it. Raccoon put a hand on his pistol.

“What?” came a voice.

“Mr. Johnson, this is Detectives Drazen and Boska from the police department. We need a word with you.”

There was silence. Then a step inside the apartment. Movement, not towards the door but not away from it. Then silence again. And Owl, too, brushed his jacket back away from his right hip.

He knocked harder. “Mr. Johnson, I need you to open the door, please.”

More steps. Raccoon tried to peer into the sole window, a wide pane with a crack in it. It was mostly covered by a sheet. Through the edge he could see a TV flickering.

Then the door opened, just a crack, and Scoot H. Johnson wedged himself into that crack. He was middle aged, out of shape, wearing jeans and an old t-shirt. Dirty and poor, but sober and alert. “What’s going on?”

Owl said, “Your parole officer said you didn’t check in today. Didn’t check in yesterday.”

“I’ve been sick.”

In his head, Raccoon said this: “Sophia, if you’re in there, please, please cry. Cry so loud, as loud as you can. Just make a sound. Roll over, knock something over. Give us anything, sweet baby girl.”

But out loud, he said this: “We need you to open the door, Mr. Johnson.”

Cautiously, Johnson let the door swing farther open. Another foot, then two.

And Owl bolted in, pushed past Johnson.

“Oh, thanks. Man, I have to use the bathroom so bad. Thanks, man.”

He hurried down a hallway. Out of sight.

“Hey, I…” Johnson stuttered and then watched Owl go, torn between following him in or staying at the door with Raccoon.

Raccoon snapped at him. “Hey, over here. Where you been?”

Johnson snorted. “I said. Sick.”

“With what?”

“A case of the I-lost-my-job. My boss found out what my felony was and that was it. I was out. He told everybody. The kitchen staff, the waitresses, everybody.”

“You’re supposed to report that to your parole officer.”

“And say what? Everybody needs to chill out and work with the… With me?”

“So you’ve been here? Alone? For two days?”

“Yep.”

“Anybody that can vouch for that?”

“My TV.”

“How about your Internet? Been surfing the web at all?”

“Don’t have a computer. They monitor them anyway, if you’re me. It’s just me and my TV.”

“What’ve you been watching on TV?”

Johnson didn’t say anything for a long time. And then he said, “They send detectives out this time of night to check on everybody that doesn’t call their parole officer? No way. No way. Why are you here?”

“Let us ask the questions.”

“Who is us, here? What the fuck is your partner doing back there?”

Johnson turned, started towards the interior of the apartment. And then, on cue, a flush.

Owl appeared. He gestured towards the TV and said, “Nickelodeon?”

Johnson looked at the floor. He’d dealt with the police before. There was nothing he could say to make things better. It could only get worse. And so, as quietly as he could without whispering, he said, “Is there anything else I can help you detectives out with tonight?”

Owl said, “Check in with your parole officer tomorrow. In person.”

“Yes, sir. Thank you.”

Owl walked out past Scoot H. Johnson and said to Raccoon, “Let’s go.”

 

Chap. 39

 

As they walked down the steps, Raccoon said, “How many people you ever wanted to kill on the spot?”

Owl snorted. “Today? Just that one.”

 

Chap. 40

 

They got back in their car.

“Nothing?”

“Sorry, Raccoon. I looked.”

“Yeah, I know.”

“I wanted to find something. Maybe not Sophia but anything. Bedroom didn’t have anything but a mattress on the floor. Closet door was open, got a clear look. Nothing in the bathroom for sure. There was one cabinet in the kitchen, I didn’t get a clear peek in that, I guess. But I even got a good look at the couch – nothing under it, nothing.”

“He’s a time bomb.”

“And if I could go put a bullet in him, I would. But come on, Raccoon. You know that guy didn’t take Sophia.”

Raccoon nodded. He whispered, “I know.”

 

Chap. 41

 

It was 8 p.m. when Owl and Raccoon got back to the meeting room at the station. The white board had been wiped clean and Owl had nothing new to write on it.

Jefferson and Mateo were there. They’d been relieved at the Marriott and if they were tired from almost 20 hours on watch, they didn’t show it. Atrex and Samuelson from the Bureau were there, too. But there were only two uniformed officers this time, men Owl and Raccoon recognized from the sweep of the open space.

Owl pointed at Jefferson. “What’s up?”

“After they got back, they went back in the bar for a minute. He caved in at 7, just before we switched out. He wanted to go back to the room. She went with him.”

“And, nothing?”

“They didn’t talk about it. We’ve got the whole thing on tape. Besides to you two, they didn’t say anything that sounded like anything.”

Owl looked at Raccoon. “Because they already know where she is.”

Raccoon had no other explanation. He nodded.

Jefferson also nodded.

Owl said, “No calls?”

Jefferson said, “No, no. Four calls. All to him, none to her. Cell phone company has four texts and three five-minute calls from a number in Indiana and one call from a local number.”

Samuelson spoke up. “The Indiana number would be his parents, most likely. Don and Margaret Grey. He is a retired veterinarian, she helped him in the office, ran the back end of his business. They were out here briefly after Sophia was born.”

“OK. Jefferson, transcripts of the calls?”

“I don’t have them printed out. They were all pretty much, ‘Anything?’ ‘Not yet.’ ‘Love you.’ ‘Love you.’”

“OK. What about the local number?”

“Cell phone registered to a Monica Peterson.”

Silence.

“Owl? Know her?”

Owl nodded. “We know her. She works with dad. Maybe his ex-girlfriend, we think.”

More silence. The detectives turned this information over in their heads and came up with nothing concrete. One by one, they looked up and around the room. No one voiced a new theory.

Owl said, “Probably just checking in. Got a transcript of that one?”

“Nope. I can get it.”

“Do it.”

Owl looked at the white board and then slowly he wrote this: Monica Peterson.

And then he went on.

“OK, we talked his parents, they live in Indiana. What about hers?”

Atrex. “Dead in a car accident when she was 16.”

Mateo said, “That’s even worse than Indiana,” and the men laughed, a low rumble, a chuckle from the gallows.

“How about the sweep of the open space? Dumpsters?”

One of the uniformed officers said, “We’re still at it. But it’s been eight hours, Owl. I don’t think she’s going to pop up.”

“That’s not long enough,” Owl said. He turned around and wrote, “Sweep,” on the white board in all capital letters. Then he underlined it. And then he wrote, “Find the body,” and underlined that, too. He said, “You have no fucking idea how long this could take. He’d lived in that condo for years. He had a bike. There are bike trails all over that open space.” He pointed at the white board and said, “Find the body. That’s all we have to do. She didn’t just vanish into thin air. Find. The. Body.”

“We’re trying, Owl.”

Owl was exasperated, maybe for the first time since Raccoon had known him. Owl yelled, “So we don’t have shit. We’ve been at this two days and we don’t have shit.”

“Here’s something new, Owl.” It was Atrex again. He was holding a bank statement.

“What is it?”

“It’s the Grey’s financial information. His information. David Grey’s.”

“And?”

“He’s rich. Worth almost two million. Two hundred thousand in checking alone. 401k’s and stocks and the condo was all paid for, free and clear.”

“How’d he get his money?”

“He just made it. There’s no one big deposit. No windfalls. He just saved his money. He was making almost two hundred at his job and he was just sinking it away. He made some good investments. It added up.”

“What about her?”

“Not much. A checking account with ten grand in it. Grocery money.”

Owl considered this. He stood at the head of the room, his eyes on the floor, tapping his marker against a table. Finally he said, “Raccoon?”

Raccoon replied, “It’s a lot of money, Owl. They could have been the target of a kidnapping.”

“Are we a hundred percent sure there’s no note?” Owl said.

Dead silence. So Owl asked again. “A note? Are we sure there isn’t one? A call? A text? Anything?”

Silence again.

And then Samuelson said, “How could we be sure?”

“Did anyone search them when we brought them in?”

The men looked at each other nervously.

Raccoon said, “Owl, no. They weren’t under arrest.”

Owl growled, frustrated. “What about her phone? How come no calls to her today?”

Samuelson. “It’s still off. The carrier lost the signal.”

“When was the last time we had it?”

“Before we brought them in.”

Slowly, Owl turned around and wrote “Find mom’s phone” on the white board.

There was nothing else to ask. Barely audible Owl said, “The sweep is ongoing?”

“I swear, Owl. They have the dogs from the park in the open space right now. If she’s there, we’ll have her by morning.”

Still not looking up, Owl muttered, “Go. We’re done here.”

 

Chap. 42

 

As the men filed out of the room, off to go see their wives or their girlfriends, head to a bar or a TV set or whatever they did, Owl imperceptibly nodded to Raccoon. Raccoon stayed behind, tying a shoelace that didn’t need to be tied, and only looked up when Owl shut the door behind the last man.

“What?”

“You know what should be happening that isn’t?”

“What?”

“Heat. Rich white couple has a baby kidnapped under their noses. This thing is tailor-made for press coverage. Then the mayor and the chief start getting nervous and we get heat. You gotten any nervous calls from the mayor’s office about how the search is going?”

“No, I haven’t.”

“Any reporters calling?”

“Not yet.”

“Bloggers? Attorneys? The chief? Channel Eight? CNN?”

“Owl?” Just the one word, this time. A question. Unspoken were the words, “Where are you going with this?”

“Why aren’t we getting heat, Raccoon? Because here’s why. Heat would have to start with two disconsolate parents who won’t leave the goddamn station and who are screaming at anything that looks like a camera. Two attractive rich white folks who have lost their only child. Unfortunately these two assholes are doing shots in a hotel bar.”

Raccoon nodded. “Yeah. That’s not a mark in their favor.”

Owl shook his head. Raccoon wasn’t understanding because he was too young, too inexperienced, too much still a SWAT cowboy who was used to taking orders. Shoot, don’t shoot. Go, stand down.

“Right now, you and I want heat, Raccoon. We want it.”

Raccoon shook his head, still not getting it.

Owl said, “If the papers don’t pick this up soon, the whole thing starts to die down. We’re going to lose the state bureau guys, we’re going to lose our officer support, we’re going to lose Jefferson and Mateo. Eventually, we’re going to get other cases coming to us. Cases with clues and real suspects that can actually be solved, missing people that need finding. We need Sophia to make the papers. We can’t just let her drift away.”

“I’m not going to let her drift away, Owl.”

“Me neither.”

“So you’re saying we need to create some heat.”

“Daphne and David aren’t going to do it. 

“OK.”

Owl’s phone rang. A quiet chirp. He looked at it. He sighed. “It’s the leash.”

“You got to go?”

“Yeah. She’s wondering where I am.”

Raccoon said, “See you here tomorrow.”

“Unless they find her tonight.”

“OK.”

“Later.”

Owl walked out of the room, going home to his waiting wife.

Raccoon had no date. Nothing to go home to tonight. He looked at the white board. It read: Monica Peterson.

Sweep. Find the body!

Find mom’s phone.

To that list, in his mind, Raccoon added this: Was there a note?

 

Chap. 43

 

That night Owl dreamt that he could hear Sophia crying in the open space.

Sure she was surrounded by coyotes, he rushed the darkness, and it whistled around him as he searched for a cry that seemed to move to the right and then the left. He kept running, at times in his boots, at times barefoot, listening to the cries, trying to track them as they were carried by the night wind.

 

Chap. 44

 

Owl woke up at 3 a.m. and couldn’t go back to sleep. He tossed and turned and finally he could feel his sleeping wife starting to toss and turn too, sensing he was awake. He got up quietly, rolled out of bed, walked out of the bedroom, down the narrow hall to the kitchen.

On the counter there were two bottles of wine. One white, one red. Intended as a gift for a barbecue they were supposed to go to at a friend’s. Or a neighbor’s? Or her cousin’s? Owl couldn’t remember.

He looked at the bottles and they looked back at him.

Don’t.

He walked into his TV room.

In one hand he had a case folder and in the other there was a photo of a little baby. A baby with a bit of dark hair, a light green onesie, on her belly on a blanket, back arched, eyes opening, focusing on things for the very first time.

He looked down at this photo in his hand and tried to remember how it had gotten there.

 

Chap. 45

 

One hour earlier. Outside the Grey’s condo. Raccoon was wearing tactical pants and a long-sleeved, black t-shirt. He had a black canvas responder bag slung over one shoulder and rope crossed over the other. 

From the front, his only way up was to the balcony outside the Grey’s family room. Inside which they had been sitting, obliviously watching TV. In theory.

Strike one. But Raccoon was fast and a kidnapper could be too. He walked across the lawn and leaped upwards, pulling himself onto the balcony. He rolled over the railing and landed low in a crouch. Low enough that the Greys might not have seen him, had they been sitting there.

He pulled himself slowly up against the wall and then, with a foot on the rail, jumped for the ledge of Sophia’s window. He caught it, lifted one leg and hooked a toe on the narrow wooden slat. He pulled himself up, took a breath, and then jumped for the roof. 

Three stories above the ground, dangling from a gutter.

An almost impossible position for anyone who wasn’t Raccoon, much less a kidnapper who planned on exiting holding a living infant. Strike two.

Once he was on the roof, Raccoon took his rope off his shoulder, looped it, and attached it to a metal pipe that seemed sturdy enough to hold his weight and then some. Then he slowly lowered himself back down in the direction he’d just come until he hung outside Sophia’s window.

Her closed, locked window.

From the sidewalk, he looked like a black spider crawling across the face of the Grey’s townhome.

He slipped a wire from his responder bag and painstakingly pushed it between the window slats, twisted it until it hooked upwards and scraped against the latch. He pulled. Nothing. The wire slipped away. Slowly he pushed it in again, caught the latch and pulled. It went nowhere. He pulled again, more firmly this time.

Crack. The pressure was too much for the window glass. It splintered. Strike three.

Raccoon pulled himself back onto the roof.

He crawled on all fours across the roof and then rolled off into the night, lowering himself again, this time over the broad outer wall to the side of the Grey’s condo. There were no windows here, but there was a tiny grate where he could access the attic.

He got out his screwdriver and went to work. One screw, then a second. It was taking too long. Sooner or later, a neighbor would have walked by, out to get some fresh air or walk the dog, and seen a kidnapper clearly clinging to the side of the Grey’s condo.

Strike one, but Raccoon persisted.

Eventually he got the grate off. He put it in his bag and hoisted himself through the tiny hole, into the attic. Quietly he pulled himself through the insulation, across the wood slats. He opened the attic door, and dropped into the Grey’s third floor hallway. His bag shook, the contents in it shifting. Too noisy. The Greys would have heard. Strike two.

Raccoon headed down the hallway, paused in Sophia’s room and picked up a bear that was lying there. A pink teddy bear. A carefully selected gift for a baby who didn’t know the difference between a teddy bear and a dragon.

Holding the bear, Raccoon headed back for the attic. It took effort to get back into it one-handed, and once he was there, he sized up the grate and realized that he couldn’t possibly make through while holding the bear. It was too tight a fit. And he needed both hands.

He dropped back down into the dark hallway and descended the single staircase. Slowly. One step at a time. Holding the bear like a living being in his arms – a breathing, murmuring, theoretically still sleeping baby.

On the seventh step, he peered down into the living room. He could see the couch. It was facing directly at him. He thought and thought.

How could they have gotten her out of here?

He took the pink bear upstairs, imagined Daphne Grey walking by him to go to the nursery and finding an empty crib.

What’s the first thing she does? She calls for David.

Together they search the upstairs and work their way down. The only doors from the house were in the garage and the front door. Assuming they worked their way to those last, making it out of the house past them would have been tricky.

Almost impossible.

But if a kidnapper waited for them to get down to the first floor, waited 30 minutes or more, waited until after they’d lost their minds and weren’t thinking clearly, he could make it to the second floor balcony, hurdle it and as long as he didn’t roll an ankle on the grass, he’d be off into the night.

Raccoon thought back to the first time he’d been in the Grey house. He searched his brain and found the memory – unlocking the doors and walking out onto the balcony. He remembered the feel of the deadbolt handle on his fingertips and the warming morning sky greeting him.

Strike three.
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Raccoon turned on the hallway light and suddenly he was no longer part of the darkness. He sat on the top step of the single staircase. The Grey’s condo was quiet and still all around him.

He sat there for a very long time, staring at the bear, staring down the staircase. How do you kidnap a child from a locked home? 

Raccoon got up, trudged back into Sophia’s room, placed the bear in her crib.

“Maybe someday you’ll be back here and you’ll need this,” he whispered. “But probably not.”

 







  
 

THURSDAY

 

Chap. 47

 

8:00 a.m. at the station. Owl and Raccoon, both of them unshaven, tired eyes, slouching, older somehow.

“What did you do last night?”

“Nothing. You?”

“Nothing.”

They decided to go across the street to the coffeehouse.

 

Chap. 48

 

They sat across a small table, each clutching a large cup of coffee.

Around them, people were gassing up to go off to their careers in what? Something Owl could barely imagine. Advertising, maybe. Girls in jeans and blouses, girls that didn’t look any older than Owl’s children, were meeting, pulling out laptops, peering into screens. A young man came in and ordered coffees for an office of particular people. A triple this and a no-foam that.

Owl tried to stop himself from thinking, “These people have no idea how easily all this can be taken from them.” He tried not to imagine how each of them could be killed or raped or robbed for no reason.

Instead, he tried to see them all as babies, happy little babies with deliriously happy eyes and no teeth. Babies who had managed to escape into the light and were getting to live their lives.

Babies never grabbed by the darkness.
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Raccoon could operate on no sleep if he had to. Cut down on activities requiring fine motor skills and quick reactions. Focus on one thing at a time. Take a drink of coffee, formulate a sentence, take another drink, say the sentence.

“You got a plan to turn the heat up?”

Owl nodded. “I do. We talk to Harrison, our PIO. Know him?”

“No.”

“We tell him we need a little press conference tomorrow morning.”

“Tomorrow morning?”

“Yep. That’ll give us enough time to let the mayor’s office know what’s going on. If we can get the mayor there, we’ll get another six or eight detectives.”

“What do we say?”

“Nothing.”

“Nothing?”

“Nope. Harrison is a good man. We tell him we need the public’s help solving a major crime. We’ll get him details after we get through today.”

“And he’ll do the rest?”

“Most of it. We need to try to build some buzz with the mayor. And we still need to go talk to them. To the Greys.”

 

Chap. 50

 

Jefferson had come through with a transcript of Monica’s call to David. Raccoon read it out loud as Owl drove: Hi, David. It’s me.

Hi.

The police were here. They said, they said, they said that Sophia has been kidnapped.

She’s missing.

David…

It’s going to be OK.

Are you sure?

No.

Is Daphne OK? [Pause] David?

Yes, she’s OK.

David?

Monica, it’s just. [Pause] I don’t know what’s going to happen.

Will you call me soon?

Yes. Promise. I’ll let you know what happens.

OK.

[Pause]

I’ll call you, Monica.

OK.

[Pause]

Bye.

David. [Pause] OK. Goodbye.
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David Grey answered the door to the suite at the Marriott. He looked at Owl and Raccoon and said, “Good morning.”

“Is it?” Owl asked.

To that, David Grey said nothing.

Owl went on. “Nice room. Got a whole little office space in there, yeah?”

“It does.”

On the way to the Marriott, Raccoon and Owl had gone by yet another coffeeshop and bought four cups of coffee. Owl held one up. “We thought you might need some coffee, seeing as you went on a bender yesterday.”

David Grey didn’t know what to say. He took the coffee and took a drink. “Do, um, do we need to go back to the station again, detective?”

“Nope,” Owl said. “This time, David, we talk and you listen. Because I still think you killed your daughter. Sophia. That’s what I think. But on the very slight off-chance you didn’t, I have some good news.”

David Grey turned around so that Owl and Raccoon couldn’t see his face. He said, “Why don’t you come in, then?”

The suite was expansive. A desk with a swiveling chair. A doorway leading to a bedroom with a queen sized bed. And a red cloth couch, upon which curled Daphne Grey, wearing nothing but one of her husband’s dress shirts.

“The detectives brought us coffee.”

Daphne smiled. Perhaps she was hungover. Maybe not. She seemed relaxed, even younger, her skin seemed softer somehow, her long pretty legs curled up under her. Raccoon handed her a cup and she said, “Thank you.”

“You going to ask if we have found Sophia?”

Daphne nodded. “Have you?”

“No, we haven’t. We do have some good news, though. Tomorrow morning, we’re going to have a press conference to ask for help locating your daughter.”

Silence.

“And what do you think of that?”

“It’s great,” David said. And Daphne nodded.

Raccoon said, “Good, glad you feel that way. Because it’s not like there was a ransom note.”

Nothing. The Greys looked down, looked at their hands, looked at the table, looked at their coffee.

Raccoon continued. “A note. It’s not like a kidnapper took Sophia and is now holding her for ransom.”

David Grey spoke up. “Yes, of course a kidnapper took her. Out of her room. She’s missing.”

“But there has been no ransom demand? No phone call? No note?”

Silence and then, “No.”

Owl snorted. “Hm. You’ll both have to come, of course. To the press conference. We need you on camera.”

The Greys both nodded.

“Anything that will help,” Daphne said.

Owl and Raccoon turned to go. And then Owl turned back around.

“Hey Daphne, where’s your phone?”

“I lost it,” David Grey said and almost in unison Daphne Grey said the same thing. “I lost it.”

Owl and Raccoon looked at each other and then back at the Greys. The Greys were also looking at each other. “Who lost it?”

“I did,” Daphne Grey said. “I lost my phone. On Monday. Or maybe on the way to the station or something? I’m not sure.”

“Tried to find it yet?”

“Oh, it’s probably time for a new one anyway,” she answered.

 

Chap. 52

 

Owl’s phone rang almost before he’d settled into his car seat. “Yes?”

“David Grey just sent another text message to that Indiana number. Wanted to let you know.”

“Copy that,” Owl said. He considered this for a minute and then told Raccoon. “Dad just texted his parents again.”

“He does that a lot.”

“Probably telling them about the press conference.”

“’Hey, mom. I’m gonna be on TV!’”

Owl nodded and started the car.

 

Chap. 53

 

It was lunchtime. And Owl and Raccoon knew a sandwich shop where the night patrolmen liked to go. High and tight tables. Italian sandwiches and chips. They had just sat down when Owl’s phone rang again. It was Mateo this time.

“Mateo, what do you have?”

“David Grey just got another call. New number. Short conversation. Grey just cut him off. Said, ‘I can’t talk right now. Things have changed.’”

“Interesting. Did you run down the number?”

“Main line of a business. David A. Davidson, attorney-at-law.”

“Attorney?”

“He’s a divorce attorney, Owl.”

“Huh. Well, what do you know?”

 

Chap. 54

 

To get to the offices of David A. Davidson, Owl and Raccoon had to go just past Black Door Advertising. Raccoon pointed at the turnoff to the building as they drove past.

 

Chap. 55

 

“How do you know David Grey?”

David A. Davidson wasn’t sure what to do or say. He mashed his hands together, put them in his pockets, put them on his desk. He looked out the window and then from Owl to Raccoon and back.

“I talked to him once.”

“In what capacity?”

Silence. Drumming fingers on a chair arm.

“When you say you talked to him once, about what? What did you talk about?”

Davidson chewed his lip, looked at his desk, the glass desktop protector spreading out over the dark wood.

Owl pushed, “About football? About girls?”

“Oh, I got it,” Raccoon interrupted. “About Monica Peterson. About how hot she is. You sat down and talked about how hot Monica Peterson is.”

The name got no reaction. Davidson only said, “I’m not sure I’m supposed to answer these questions?” And that itself was a question, as if Owl and Raccoon were his lawyers and they’d advise of him of his rights.

“Sure you are,” Raccoon said. “You and David are buddies, right? You were talking about fishing or something.”

“No,” Davidson said.

“So he was a client, then.”

“I can’t talk to you about clients.”

“You just did. You told us he was your client.”

“I didn’t.”

“Sure you did.”

Again with the silent treatment. Davidson staring at a pen on his desk.

Owl looked at Raccoon and Raccoon shrugged.

Go for it.

Owl leaned across and almost whispered, “Mr. Davidson, David and Daphne Grey’s daughter has been murdered. We need your help.”

Davidson’s eyes flew up from his desk, but only for a minute. Finally he said, “I don’t think I can.”

Raccoon raised a fist, towering over the room, the desk, everything. “You won’t help us find out who murdered a baby?”

Davidson said, “Because I don’t know anything. He called my office once. We talked on the phone about, you know.”

“About what?”

“Divorce. About divorce. Then he had me set up an appointment for them. They never showed.”

“Them?”

Davidson shrugged.

“David and Daphne? Together?”

“Yes. I guess. The appointment was made for both of them. I never talked to her.”

“When?”

“Oh, two weeks ago. I don’t know anything.”

 

Chap. 56

 

Owl started the car.

“Monica?” Raccoon said.

Owl nodded. “Downtown this time. I’ll call it in, have a patrolman pick her up. We’ll see how she feels after a ride in the cage.”

 

Chap. 57

 

This time Raccoon sat in the interview room. With Monica. And in another world, a world where the most important person in Raccoon’s life wasn’t always the one who was missing, they were kissing.

Monica was wearing the long black skirt and the tank top with flowers on the shoulder that she was wearing when the patrol car had showed up at Black Door Advertising. She looked so good.

For a second, they were just a tall girl and a taller boy, a boy trying to say the right things, and those things were things that would make her laugh and then fall in love.

 

Chap. 58

 

The thing Raccoon actually said was, “Were you sleeping with David Grey?”

“No.”

“Did you ever sleep with David Grey?”

“Yes.”

Raccoon’s heart fell a bit. “When?”

“A long time ago.”

“How long?”

“Before he met Daphne.”

“Monica, how do you feel about Daphne?”

“She’s fine, I guess.”

Silence.

“She’s just a kid. She’s still a little girl.”

“Do you feel like she stole David from you?”

Monica started to tear up a bit. “Maybe. Not really. We were never, we never dated, we were never together.”

“What was David and Daphne’s relationship like?”

“What do you mean?”

“I mean what was it like? Were they happy?”

It took Monica a minute to answer. She thought, bit her lip. She said, “I think marriage is hard. It sounds hard. People who are married have a hard time sometimes making things work. It changes things.”

“Did David ever talk to you about divorce?”

“Yes. But he stopped.”

“Stopped?”

 “A couple of weeks ago, he stopped. He said things had changed.”

“Changed how?”

“Just changed. He said things had changed.”

“So they weren’t getting divorced.”

“A couple weeks ago, maybe even just ten days ago. He just said everything was better.”

 

Chap. 59

 

Raccoon opened the door to the recording room. Owl swiveled around and looked up at him.

“What do you think?” Raccoon asked.

“Let her go,” Owl said. “We’ve got nothing.”

 

Chap. 60

 

Only seven men were in the meeting room at the station that night. It was only dinnertime, but they all looked tired, and hungry, and sick of everything. Atrex and Samuelson from the bureau. Jefferson and Mateo from surveillance. Only one patrolman, Officer Viggio, the same young officer who had tracked down The Matrix and Scoot H. Johnson.

On the whiteboard, Owl wrote: Press conference.

Sweep.

Daphne and David.

Daphne’s phone.

Then Owl said, “This case is dying, men. We’ve got no body, no evidence and right now we only have two suspects. Three days in. We have nothing we didn’t have when we started.”

He looked around. Hoping someone would contradict him, say something he hadn’t thought of before.

Silence.

He went on. “So tomorrow we’re going to have a press conference to ask for the public’s help. Hopefully, we’ll get some tips out of that. Hopefully, we’ll get some heat, some additional time with you all. I know you all have other cases stacking up.”

He looked at Atrex and Samuelson and they nodded back. “Yeah, we’re getting pulled on to other stuff. Probably as early as tomorrow.”

“Well, we’ll see. Maybe we can get you back for a couple days. We’ve asked for more men and we keep getting less. So, uh, just be at the press conference if you can be. The PIO has it set up downstairs on the steps. Maybe the mayor will come. I don’t know.”

He looked at the board and pointed at the word, “Sweep.”

“It’s done Owl. They shut it down this afternoon. Everybody got pulled back in. If the body is out there, we’re not going to find it.”

Owl looked at the floor and imagined some day, two months from now, a couple of 10-year-olds playing in a ditch, stumbling across a tiny body, covered in seaweed, the flesh peeling away, the bugs everywhere.

He tried to blot out the image and failed.

He had to go on.

He pointed at the next item on the whiteboard. “Daphne and David. They didn’t like being parents. They were unhappy, thinking about divorce, fighting all the time. Then they decide to kill the kid. Things get better. They fall back in love. They smother her in her, her fucking crib. They smother her in her crib and David goes and buries the body somewhere too good for us to find, Daphne fucks up the house, they have a drink and call 911. Yes?”

He looked around the room. Nothing but nodding heads.

“Does anybody have any other ideas?”

Silence. Almost imperceptible shrugs. No.

“Raccoon, any other ideas?”

Raccoon whispered, “No.”

“Well, where the fuck is the body? Where the fuck is the body?” Owl made a sound that sounded like the devil was pushing out of his throat. He stamped his foot and then focused. “Daphne’s missing phone. They say they lost it. They were nervous as hell about it. It’s the only loose thread we have. Anybody got an idea where it could be?”

“That’s going to be a hard one to find, Owl.”

“Yeah. All right. I don’t know what to say here. Anybody got anything?”

Silence.

“Let’s just see. Maybe the press conference will buy us some heat, buy us some time. Someone will crack. Someone always cracks. Go home.”

Chap. 61

 

The officers filed out. One by one. Failure and exhaustion on their faces.

And then Owl looked up. He squinted and breathed. He stopped clenching his fists so he could signal Raccoon and then he called out, “Jefferson, wait.”

The detective stopped, turned around, looked at Owl. Looked at Raccoon. Looked back at Owl. Owl’s face was no longer sad. Just tense, the eyebrows pushed together, the lips drawn tight.

“Yeah, Owl?”

“What do we know about roofies? It’s a date rape drug, right? Guys use them to knock out girls and then rape them.”

“Can be. Sometimes. Not usually. That’s sort of a media thing.”

“What’s that?”

“The date rape thing. It was the flavor of the month a few years back. But that’s, like, two percent of what the kids use them for. The rave kids, they take roofies all the time. Nine times out of ten, you bust kids for roofies at dance clubs, not a frat house.”

“Why?”

“Sedative for the kids who are trying to come down off something. Others just like the high.”

“What’s it like?”

“Just like being really, really drunk. Really drunk.”

“But what’s the date rape thing?”

“Yeah, I mean, take enough of it, it knocks you out. Takes 30 minutes to kick in, you wake up a couple hours later barely remembering your own name. Guys give it to girls, the girls don’t even know they’ve been raped sometimes. They’re just confused. But like I said, that’s rare.”

Owl had been born an adult. He’d been a serious child, and then a sniper, a drinker, a man who searched for evil and who made his life moving among bad people. Nothing ever surprised him. Nothing ever really made him happy. Yet now he said out loud, nearly bellowed, “I got it. I got it. I know what happened to her.”

 

Chap. 62

 

Owl wouldn’t talk, wouldn’t explain. He sent Raccoon for coffee and Raccoon went.

Owl placed a long-distance phone call. He did paperwork. He stared at the wall. Finally, three hours later, he got an email with an image attached.

He made two calls. The first was to Harrison, the PIO. He told him to cancel the press conference, that the whole thing was a mistake. Harrison protested that the mayor’s office was sending an aide. Owl just repeated, he needed the whole thing cancelled.

Then Owl called the surveillance officer and told him to arrest David Grey.

“On what charge?”

“Just bring him in.”

 

Chap. 63

 

It was almost 10 p.m.

David Grey sat in interrogation. The same room as three days ago. The same spartan metal table. The same untouched coffee. The same lack of lawyers, no David A. Davidson.

And the same Raccoon, sitting alone in another room, hunched over a video monitor.

And then Owl was in the room with Raccoon.

“I need you to turn it off.”

“What?”

“Off. I need the recorder off.”

“You know we can’t do that.”

Owl breathed. Paused. And said, “Please?”

A moment passed. And then Raccoon did it. He reached over and turned the recorder off.

“Thanks, Raccoon.”

Raccoon nodded. “I’m still listening, you know? Don’t fuck this up, this thing you’re doing.”

“I know,” Owl said. “Just wait.”

 

Chap. 64

 

Owl walked in and sat across from David Grey. He looked at the man for a moment and saw that Grey looked nervous this time. And then Owl put a photo on the table.

It wasn’t the clearest photo, taken in haste by a state trooper from a moving car. But it very clearly showed a cabin by a lake. 

A small cabin, secluded in a far—away woods. The eastern sky brightening with emerging stars, the trees covered with shadows in the setting sun.

A cabin with a little patio on which sat two elderly people, at least 60, maybe 70 years old. A man and a woman. A husband and a wife. And in the woman’s arms, there was a blanket, a bundle, a baby.

Sophia Grey.

And Owl said,  “This photo was taken at your parent’s cabin in Indiana. Thirty minutes ago.”

David sighed a little sigh. The wheels in his head were turning. Finally he said, “You found the cabin.”

“You’d have been here an hour ago if your parents hadn’t taken her there. The Indiana troopers went to your parents’ house first. When they found out from the neighbors that they’d taken off that afternoon, after you texted them about the press conference, the officers tracked them down to their property by the lake. Where your parents currently have your daughter. Alive.”

David Grey breathed. What could he say? Only, “Yes.”

“What did you do with Daphne’s phone, David?”

David laughed to himself. He looked at Owl and nodded. “I trashed it. Pulled the battery and tossed it into a dumpster that evening. Before… Before.”

“Before you bombed your wife with her own roofies, the ones she normally took to get high and dance and have sex. Because you couldn’t take the chance we’d find Daphne’s phone and find what you found on it.”

“Yes.”

“Because then we would have had probable cause to arrest you both. And your whole plan would have fallen apart.”

“Yes.”

“I mean, what? What all did you find on her phone, I mean? Chloroform? Drugs? SIDS?”

“All of it.”

“All of it?”

“Yes, all of it. SIDS. Suffocation. Murder statutes.”

“All of it.”

“I tried to search ‘How long does it take to get to New York’ and her browser filled in ‘How long does it take a body to decompose.’” David Grey looked at the wall, looked down at the table, and spilled his guts. “I… didn’t think, I didn’t think she was serious at first, when she started talking about how much she, she hated Sophia. But when I found that… Do you have any idea what it’s like to find out your wife is planning to murder your daughter?”

“No.”

“You can’t imagine.”

“Explain it to me.”

“I had no choice.”

“You had all sorts of choices. Starting with divorce and custody. A legal right that thousands of people exercise every day.”

“I tried that.”

“David A. Davidson, attorney-at-law.”

David Grey laughed again, grimly, softly. He nodded his head.

“I thought I had it planned out so well. Yes, Davidson. He told me how hard it would be to get custody, how hard it is for a father to get sole custody of a child if the mother doesn’t give it up. So then I talked to Daphne. I said to her, ‘Maybe you’d be happier on your own.’ I told her she wasn’t ready to be a mom, she was too young and I was sorry I’d pressured her into marriage when she was still so young, and I wanted her to get back that time to be young and have fun. I tried to blame myself.”

“And?”

“And she started talking about how happy we would be without the baby. How happy we used to be, before she was born. Going out to the clubs, spending money, falling in love. She wasn’t going to let me go, let us go. It’s this, this fantasy she has.”

“Plus she would have lost all that money.”

“Yeah. I guess. There’s that.”

“You could have gone to the cops.”

“With what?”

“With what you just said.”

“And what would happen to Daphne? Nothing. Because it’s not illegal to look up ways to kill a baby on a cell phone. But she was going to do it. She was going to kill my baby. Sophia. She was going to kill Sophia. Imagine you’re me. Every time you go to work, you wonder if when you get home, your baby will be dead. Every time you go to the bathroom, you have to leave them alone together. Alone. Together. I had to get Sophia out.”

“So one night you put her to bed, told the wife you wanted to get high and fool around. While she’s waiting for the sedatives to kick in, you turned on a movie, but this is the thing. You got it on-demand. So you overdosed her.”

Owl paused, but David Grey didn’t move or say anything or even breathe. Owl continued.

“Then all you had to do was hit pause, take Sophia down to where your parents were waiting on the sidewalk outside, go back up and when you saw her waking up, you hit the play button and said, ‘Hey, why don’t you go check on Sophia?’ How was Daphne going to know, right? She thought she was high on roofies and wine. She never knew she lost a couple hours passed out while you kidnapped her daughter.”

“Her daughter? Hers?” David shifted, he leaned forward, desperate, hurting. “Detective, please. Listen, I’m not a perfect dad. I know I’ve done a terrible thing. The press conference…”

“Yeah, that had to have scared the piss out of you.”

“I didn’t think it would go that far. Daphne wasn’t going to take it that far. She thinks I did it. That I killed Sophia. Daphne thinks she’s covering for me. So I just thought if I kept my mouth shut, what are you going to do? I knew you wouldn’t find any evidence because there isn’t any. Because Sophia is safe. And that’s a dad’s job.”

And now it was David Grey’s turn to stop, to look for affirmation, for confirmation, for understanding. But Owl gave him nothing. And so the man went on.

“That’s my job, my most important job. To keep my baby safe. And she is safe now. And over the next month, I’m going to get myself out of my marriage to that, that thing. I’m going to leave her. I’ll have everything ready and I’ll just walk away. And Daphne will have no way to stop me. And then I’m going to pick up and go. I’m going to go to Indiana and raise my little girl. And love her. And keep her safe. I promise.”

Owl said nothing. David went on, desperate.

“What if you arrest me? What will it get you? I’m in jail, my baby will be returned to Daphne. Daphne doesn’t want her. She’ll neglect her. Maybe kill her. Maybe give her up for adoption while I’m in jail.”

“Maybe she’ll just give her back to your parents.”

“OK. Maybe. Maybe. Best case, that’s what she does. But this time, I won’t be coming for Sophia. I’m in jail for whatever it is I’ve done here. Kidnapping or false reporting or fraud or something. For the next ten years? They’re 65! How many years can they give her? My 65-year-old parents with a three-month-old? They could die, she could go to a foster home. Please, detective. What’s best for Sophia? Isn’t that what you want? Is that why you’ve been doing this? Don’t you want what’s best for her? Don’t you?” He looked at Owl and said, “I just love her. I love my baby so much. I’m sorry. I’m so sorry.”

David Grey started to cry.

 

Chap. 65

 

It takes less time to forget a missing baby than you’d like to believe. A comet passes by the planet, a pretty coed gets a rare disease, a celebrity gets divorced. The world moves on and the memory of a little girl fades for everybody except those who really love her.

After three days, surveillance on the Greys ended. Owl and Raccoon quietly moved the affair into a cold case file.

After three weeks, David Grey left Daphne Grey. David A. Davidson showed up at her room with papers and a settlement. “David says he can’t go on. He’s not coming back.”

She had been confused, and she protested, “But he did that thing. He did it for us. He did it so we could be together again.”

The lawyer just said, “He’s offering you this much money. It’s a lot of money. Take it or I’ll see you in court.”

She took it.

A week after that, Daphne Grey was seen at the Carrot Room, dancing and drinking.

 

Chap. 66

 

Eighteen years later, a group of teenage girls walked into a post office and applied for passports so they could take their senior class trip to France.

Somewhere deep in a computer, one of their social security numbers triggered a long lost file.

Sophia Grey. Missing person.

An aging bureaucrat double-checked the fingerprints, and then asked the healthy, happy girl standing in front of him if she’d ever been missing.

“No,” she answered. And then she looked at her friends and laughed at the oddity of the question.

The bureaucrat shrugged and thought, “Probably one of those custody spats. Dad takes off with kid, mom freaks out and files a report, dad shows up the next day, and nobody bothered to close the damn thing.”

He helpfully deleted the case forever.

 

Chap. 67

 

That night, after the final interrogation of David Grey, after Owl and Raccoon had decided what they had to do, after they’d picked up their jackets and rubbed their eyes and started to walk to their cars, Raccoon had said, “You owe me a dollar.”

Owl had said, “I don’t.”

“You said I prove they didn’t kill her, you’d give me a dollar. Give me my dollar, Owl.”

“But they did do it. Dad did it. I was right. I’ll keep my dollar.”

“But he didn’t do what you thought he did. He didn’t murder the kid.”

“No, he wasted three days of our lives investigating a kidnapping that never happened.”

“No, no. I was investigating a kidnapping. You were investigating a murder. And you were wrong, so give me my dollar.”

Owl had reached in his pocket and pulled out his wallet. “I don’t owe you a dollar at all. I said one of them was guilty, that there was no mystery kidnapper, and I was right. But I’m going to give you one anyway because it feels good.”

Owl had smiled and was so glad he wasn’t drinking or on SWAT anymore. He had handed a dollar to Raccoon and then Owl had got into his car and pulled out his cell phone and called each of his kids, waking them up just so he could tell them how very much he loved them.







  
 

The End 
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